














stated Morehead may have inferred that Gibson was involved in the
Zubaydah matter from the timing of his overseas travel.

Gibson’s suggestion that Morehead constructed these accurate
details from conversations between Gibson and Thomas that she
overheard does not resolve the matter. Even if true, this would suggest
that Gibson improperly conducted telephone conversations about
classified matters in the presence of Morehead.

Moreover, there is no indication in the investigative file for this
matter that the Inspection Division or OPR made any attempt to
determine whether the account of Gibson’s trip with Thomas that
Morehead provided was accurate and if so, whether the information was
classified or sensitive.

We also found it inexplicable that the FBI did not make the issue of
Gibson’s alleged disclosures to Morehead a major focus of its polygraph
examination of Gibson in 2004.

We also note that the FBI’s indifference to allegations of Gibson’s
disclosure of his participation in the Zubaydah matter stands in stark
contrast to the FBI’s treatment of another agent accused of mishandling
sensitive information. This agent had concerns about the efficacy of FBI
operations in GTMO, where the agent had previously been deployed. In
April 2003 the agent addressed these concerns in a letter to FBI Director
Mueller. The agent attempted to arrange for the delivery of a letter to the
Director by a private citizen who was a mutual acquaintance. In the
letter the agent identified herself as an “FCI” (Foreign Counter
Intelligence) agent and described (but did not name) detainees she had
interviewed at GTMO. OPR ruled in that case that the letter contained
sensitive or classified information and that the agent had improperly
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disclosed the information to an unauthorized person by giving the letter
to a private citizen for delivery to the Director. The agent received a 5-
day suspension without pay for this disclosure and for the offense of
circumventing the normal channels of communicating with the Director.

The information disclosed by this agent was considerably less
specific or sensitive than the information Morehead allegedly received
from Gibson about his involvement with a CIA detainee. For example,
the agent was criticized for revealing that the agent was assigned to an
FCI squad. Morehead somehow obtained far more sensitive information:
that Gibson had been assigned to work with Thomas and the CIA on the
interrogation of a high value detainee at a secret location, using specific
interrogation techniques that the government clearly considers to be
secret. Yet, OPR found that this information was too “vague” to be
considered sensitive or classified. Again, we found no indication of any
effort by the Inspection Division to determine whether the information
was accurate or classified.

The issue of whether Gibson disclosed classified information to
Morehead was adjudicated by OPR in 2005. We believe that too much
time has passed for investigators to determine whether Morehead could
have derived her information from non-classified conversations or
publicly available sources. Also, much of the information that Morehead
described to FBI investigators was subsequently reported in the media,
which attributed the information to several unidentified law enforcement
and intelligence officials. It would be unfair for the FBI to reopen the
investigation of Gibson without initiating an investigation of the sources
of the information in the reports.220 However, the FBI should take note
of the inadequate and incomplete investigation it conducted with respect
to this matter and take steps to ensure that future investigations of
allegations that agents disclosed confidential or classified information are
conducted more thoroughly and evenhandedly.?2!

220 The New York Times identified the sources of the information in the article
as officials who were not present at the interrogation but rather were briefed on the
events as they occurred or later. This description, if accurate, would exclude Gibson as
the source because he personally witnessed these events.

221 In commenting on a draft of this report, the FBI stated that the adequacy of
the FBI’s investigation of the allegation was further supported by the fact that Gibson
passed a polygraph examination in connection with a promotion in September 2003,
and by the DOJ Public Integrity Section’s declination to prosecute Gibson. We disagree.
The 2003 polygraph was not a factor in the OPR’s adjudication of this issue and does
not shed light on the adequacy of the FBI’s investigation in 2004-2005. It took place
before Morehead made her allegations to the FBI and did not include specific questions
about conversations between Gibson and Morehead. Similarly, the decision by the DOJ
Criminal Division not to prosecute Gibson does not establish the adequacy of the FBI’s

' (Cont’d.)
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VIII. Allegations of Abuse at the

In this Section we address allegations relating to FBI conduct
during the spring and summer of 2004 at

Most of the allegations that we investigated were made by an FBI
agent, Ryan, who served in Iraq

and who was assigned to the facility for several weeks in
. o aother
FBI agent, Adair, was the officer in charge of the

q?” However, Adair was acting in his capacity as an active duty
officer . From “, approximately

seven FBI agents were sent by the FBI to the facility to assist the military
in conducting interrogations of detainees held at

As described in detail later in this Section, Ryan reported to
military superiors and to the FBI Inspection Division that after he left the
facility a military interrogator told him that detainees at the facility were
confined in “inhumane conditions” and were subjected to abusive
interrogation techniques, including food, water, and sleep deprivation
and “water interrogation.” Ryan brought the issue to the attention of the
FBI Inspection Division because Adair was an FBI agent, although, as
discussed below, Adair was acting in his capacity as an officer in the
Army at the time of the incidents. The OIG investigated Ryan’s
allegations and also examined reports from other agents regarding
practices by other FBI employees at the facility that might violate FBI
policy, including the use of in-cell restraints, blindfolding, and threats in
connection with detainee interrogations.

internal investigation, but rather reflects DOJ’s determination on the basis of the FBI
information that there was insufficient evidence to prosecute. Neither the 2003
polygraph nor the Criminal Division declination decision address the central
deficiencies in the FBI’s investigation: the failure to recognize that the information
Morehead provided was highly detailed, specific, and accurate; the failure to determine
whether the information was sensitive or classified; and the failure to address how
Morehead got the information except from Gibson.

222 Ryan and Adair are pseudonyms.
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A. Background

1. The Facility

2. FBI Special Agent Adair

Prior to joining the FBI, Adair served in the military for over 9
ears. Adair remained on Inactive Ready Reserve status and in
he was recalled to active du

in
February 2004 where he served as a liaison officer and assisted with
developing detainee interrogation strategies. In
Adair was a331gned to be the “J2X” (human intelligence) officer for the
Unit when the prior J2X retired.

Adair told the OIG that as the J2X, he was the officer in charge of
collecting human intelligence, which included supervising the entire
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. A Sergeant Major
was also assigned to the facility. Either Adair or the Sergeant Major was
usually physically present at the facility. Ryan told the OIG that the
Sergeant Major “appeared to be in actual control of the facility.”

However, Adair stated that he, and not the Sergeant Major, was in charge
of the

Adair told the OIG that when the news accounts appeared about
the conduct of military personnel at Abu Ghraib in the spring of 2004,
his milit supervisor told him that he should “not let anything happen”
at because of the importance of the
actionable intelligence gained from the facility. Adair said he responded
to his supervisor that he would let the U.S. Constitution be his guide.
Adair told the OIG that all interrogation techniques used at the facility
had been approved by .

Adair said that there was a shortage of experienced interrogators at
the facility, and there had been an “informal” decision to have FBI agents
assist in the interrogations. As a result of his suggestion, a team of FBI
agents was sent to the ﬂ in May 2004 to

assist with the interrogations.

Adair left the military and returned to the United States in the
middle of July 2004.

3. The Team of FBI Agents

Prior to May 2004, primarily military intelligence officers and
Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) interrogators conducted detainee
interrogations at “ Beginning in early
May 2004, a team of approximately five FBI agents, including a Team
Leader, was deployed to the facility to assist the military in conducting
interrogations of the detainees for the purpose of obtaining intelligence
concerning threats to coalition forces and to obtain information that had
a U.S. nexus to terrorism. About a week later, two additional FBI agents

joined the five at the facility. The entire team of FBI agents returned to
the United States in July 2004 after a 60-day deployment.

The Team Leader said that his team was the first group of FBI
agents to be _ Several of these
agents told us that they received some instruction for their assignment,
either prior to their deployment to the facility or after they arrived.
According to the FBI Team Leader, the Deputy OSC for Iraq gave
instructions that the FBI agents should conduct the same type of
interviews as in the United States and should not to take part in or even
stay and observe interrogations where the military was employing any.

330



“harsh—ui” techniques, such as [N

. The Team Leader stated that he relayed these instructions
to the agents, and several agents told us that they received instructions
to conduct themselves as they would in the United States.

Three of the agents told us that they understood that if they saw
conduct by the military that was inconsistent with FBI policies, they
should not participate and should report the incident through the FBI
chain of command. Several agents also told us that after they arrived in
Iraq, they received written guidance from FBI Headquarters, which we
concluded was likely the FBI’s May 2004 Detainee Policy described in
Chapter Six.

However, three other agents told us that the team did not receive
training on military interrogation. They said that they did not know what
techniques were and were not authorized by the military and other
agencies.

At the _, the FBI agents were split into

two 12-hour shifts for conducting interviews of detainees. The agents
said that twice a day the agents, the military interrogators, and the
Sergeant Major met between shift changes to discuss the interrogations.
At these meetings, they would discuss general issues involving
interrogations and also specific detainees. Adair was also in attendance
at the briefings whenever he was present at

Initially, the agents were teamed up with military interrogators, but
after a short period of time they generally worked with other FBI agents.
According to the FBI, this change was implemented to be consistent with
an FBI rule requiring that all interviews be conducted by two agents.

One of the agents stated that the reason for this change was that FBI
interviewers had a different purpose than military interviewers. The
focus of the military interviews was for force protection, while the FBI
agents were looking for information with a U.S. nexus. The agents did
not write FD-302 summaries for each interview, but rather summarized
their interviews in the form of ECs that were submitted weekly.

4. FBI Special Agent Ryan

Ryan has worked for the FBI since 1999. He has also been a U.S.
Marine Corps reserve officer since 1996. Ryan told the OIG that when
the Iraq war began he sought to be deployed with the Marine Corps. He
received orders from the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) in April 2004
to deploy to Iraq, and arrived in Baghdad on May 1, 2004. He was
assigned to lead a team of human intelligence personnel to support JJJjj
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I i cluding

interrogation of detainees.

Ryan was in Iraq from May 1 to the beginning of June, 2004. Of
that time he spent approximately 2 weeks at and approximately 2
weeks at i Ryan said that during his time at *

he experienced friction with the Sergeant Major over

who was in control of the DIA interrogators. Ryan complained to his
military superior in the United States, and in mid-May he was directed to
leave the facility and move to I o onitor DIA officers. He stayed
in that area for 2 weeks and returned to

briefly. Shortly thereafter, he took a flight back to the United
States.

When Ryan returned to the United States, he complained to his
superiors at DIA about problems at the facility, including that the
military command at the facility had treated him poorly and that the
environment at the facility was abusive towards detainees. He also
eventually complained to FBI OPR about his view of Adair’s operation of
the facility.

Adair told us that at one point he was informed that Ryan was
missing from the facility and that no one knew where he was. Adair later
learned that Ryan had returned and was staying at a nearby airport
hanger waiting to catch the next flight to the United States because he
knew he was in trouble and that people were looking for him. Adair said
that Ryan had “split from the program.”

B. Allegations by Ryan

When Ryan returned to the United States, he reported his
concerns about the treatment of detainees at h
to his military superiors and to the FBI Inspection Division. He
-also signed an affidavit for FBI OPR describing these concerns. Ryan
also provided information about these concerns in an interview with the

OIG.
Ryan reported that shortly before he left the _

I i» mid-May 2004, he overhead a facility military guard who was
observing approximately six [N

detainees

awaiting release from the facility. Ryan said the guard made a comment
to the effect of,
Ryan

said he reported the statement to the guard’s supervisor, and that within
48 hours the Sergeant Major banned Ryan from the facility.
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Rian stated in his OPR affidavit that after he left the ||| Gz

in mid-May 2004 to go elsewhere in Iraq, he had a
conversation with an unnamed military interrogator. According to Ryan,
the military interrogator told him that some of the detainees at the
facility were confined in “inhumane conditions” without proper medical
treatment and without adequate hygiene opportunities. Ryan also stated
that the military interrogator told him that techniques such as food,
water, and sleep deprivation were used by military interrogators to
extract information from the detainees. In addition, the military
interrogator reported that detainees would be stripped naked and
subjected to “water interrogation.”

Ryan told the OIG he did not personally observe these conditions
or the abuse described to him by the military interrogator. He alleged
that as the Officer in Charge at %, Adair
should have known about the conditions and the abuse and should have
taken steps to correct them. '

Ryan also stated that he learned when he returned to Baghdad in
late May or early June 2004 that someone at the *
B -4 posted his photograph in the main building of the facility.
We obtained a copy of the poster, which had printed in large letters
“Wanted for Questioning” above Ryan’s picture and stated that “if seen
detain and escourt [sic] to the [task force] commander or the [task force]
J-2” (i.e., Adair).

Ryan stated that he did not know who had made the poster, but
that he viewed it as threatening and as retaliation for his reporting the
comments by the guard about shooting detainees in the back. He said
that after returning to the United States, he called the FBI Team Leader
who had been at the facility with the FBI agents, and the Team Leader
denied that the FBI agents made the poster. In our interview with the
Team Leader, he said that someone in the military hung up the poster in
the briefing room after a briefing where Ryan’s absence was noted.

C. Prior Investigations

After Ryan returned to the United States, his allegations of abuse
were referred to the DIA OIG, which conducted an interview of Ryan. The
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DIA OIG concluded that no investigation by the DIA OIG was warranted
because Adair was not a DIA employee, and referred the allegations to
the DOD OIG. We did not find any indication that the DOD OIG ever
addressed the allegations against Adair.

Documents provided by

the milit indicate that a DIA civilian
debricfer who was assigned to [T . o

2004 also made allegations to the DOD regarding detainee abuse at the

had been approved by the J2 of the Task
Force (who was Adair).

Other DIA employees assigned to the facility reported to DIA or
DOD investigators that detainees arriving h
- had bruises and burn marks indicating they had been abused,
and that some detainees were held at the facility for weeks at a time at

the whim of interrogators despite a general rule that detainees should be
transferred or released within 4 days. One DIA employee reported that
when the Task Force was notified that an IG investigation had been
initiated, the Sergeant Major and the Officer in Charge (Adair) became
very upset and the Sergeant Major made threatening statements against
the DIA employee believed to have initiated the complaints.

Due to these events and other concerns regarding the relationship
between the Task Force and the DIA personnel, the DIA directed its
personnel serving at N - - (hc facility
and to return to Camp Slayer in late June 2004. A memorandum from
I (: 1 Dirccor of the DIA

dated July 6, 2004, stated that an investigation of detainee abuse was
underway and that it had revealed

However, we are not aware of any report or findings by the DOD
OIG, the Task Force, or any other milit component regarding the
alleged incidents of detainee abuse at %
during Adair’s tenure at that facility. As noted above, Ryan also reported
his concerns to the FBI Inspection Division in August 2004. The
Inspection Division initiated an investigation of the allegations against
Adair, who by that time also had returned to the FBI as a Special Agent.
On September 1, 2004, the Inspection Division conducted an interview of
Ryan and obtained a 7-page affidavit from him setting forth his
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allegations. The Inspection Division did not interview Adair or conduct
any further investigation before closing the matter as “unsubstantiated”
in September 2004. An FBI Inspection Division official later
characterized Ryan’s allegations as “rumor and innuendo.” However, the
Inspection Division referred the matter to the OIG on October 20, 2004,
by providing Ryan'’s affidavit to the OIG.

D. OIG Investigation

The OIG interviewed Ryan, Adair, and the team of seven FBI agents
who were deployed to the facility to conduct interrogations of detainees.
We also reviewed the survey responses of the FBI interrogation team and
the electronic communications summarizing detainee interviews that
were prepared during the period. We obtained documentation from the
DOD OIG regarding complaints made by Defense HUMINT Service

interroiators reiardini conditions at the —

In evaluating Adair’s conduct, we recognized that Adair was acting
in his capacity as a military commander while he was stationed at the
detention facility. In this capacity, he was expected to comply with
military regulations relating to the treatment of detainees, not FBI
policies. As noted in prior chapters, military policies regarding
interrogation techniques were significantly different and less restrictive
than policies applicable to FBI agents. As a result, Adair’s conduct
should be evaluated as a military commander by reference to military
standards, not FBI standards.?23

Nevertheless, the FBI retains an interest in the “off-duty” conduct
of its agents. The FBI’'s MAOP, Section 1-21.2, provides that “a
disciplinary inquiry is not restricted to activities within the critical
elements and performance standards of the employee’s position and may
also include on- or off-duty conduct when such conduct affects an
employee’s ability to perform his or her job or adversely affects the
Bureau’s ability to secure needed cooperation from members of the
public.”

In evaluating Adair’s conduct as a military officer, however, we
recognized that compliance with military policies is primarily within the
jurisdiction of the military and not normally a subject within the purview
of the DOJ OIG. The Church Report described in detail the extremely

. 228 Moreover, we are not aware that the FBI has established any policy or
guidance regarding the applicability of its policies to FBI employees serving in the
military forces.
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complex evolution of the military policies and found that in many cases
there were serious deficiencies in the communication of the contents of
military policies to units in the field. Church Report at 276. Moreover,

most of the potential witnesses to conditions and events at the
I .- \cci's tenure are not DO
employees and therefore are not subject to the OIG’s investigative

authorities. Consequently, the scope of our review was primarily limited
to the accounts provided by FBI employees.

We identified instances where Adair’s conduct might potentially
have implicated particular military policies, based on the descriptions of
such policies in the Church Report and summarized in Chapter Three.
However, we believe that the military should make the ultimate
determination of whether one of its officers complied with military policy.
If the military determines that Adair’s conduct violated military policy, we
recommend that such findings be communicated to the FBI for its
assessment whether any discipline is warranted under MAOP 1-21.2.

Although Adair was acting as a military officer, the FBI agents who
were deployed as a team to & during May
through July of 2004 were at all times acting as FBI employees. These
agents were subject to the more restrictive FBI policies regarding
interrogation, as described in prior chapters. As discussed in the
following sections, we assessed their conduct in light of FBI rather than

military standards.

E. OIG Analysis of the Allegations
In this subpart we present the results of the OIG’s investigation
into the allegations relating to misconduct at the *

1. Alleged Inhumane Physical Conditions

Ryan stated that a military interrogator had told him that there
were “inhumane conditions at the Baghdad detention facility.” The
military interrogator told him that detainees who were not cooperating
with the interrogators were kept in

The FBI aients who conducted interrogations at the ||| GGz

acknowledged that the conditions for the detainees
were “primitive” and uncomfortable, but the agents did not view them as
inhumane and instead viewed them as appropriate to the circumstances.
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One agent estimated the cells to be
. One
agent said that the cells were clean and were swept regularly and
mopped on occasion. Several agents said that the cells had sleepin
mats in them. One agent said that the cells were large enough

According to most of the FBI agents, the plywood detainee
cells were open at the top and were in buildings that were enclosed and
air-conditioned, including the

We believe that conditions in the |||l were likely extremely
uncomfortable, particularly in the summer. However, we have no
evidence that, as J2X of the Unit, Adair was involved in designing or
constructing the facility, which was already in operation when Adair
arrived in Iraq. We also received no evidence that Adair could control the

size or temperature of the , or that he or others intentionally
manipulated temperatures in the to increase detainee
discomfort. Accordingly, we did not analyze whether the conditions in
the | violated military policies or applicable treaty obligations.
We believe that this issue is not specific to Adair.

2. Allegations Regarding Medical and Hygiene
Conditions

Ryan stated he believed that the detainees at the facility were
“denied showers for periods up to one month and medical attention.” He
said that although “each detainee was screened by an individual known
as ‘Doc,’ there were problems with detainees receiving prescribed
medication.” He did not provide any specific examples of detainees not
receiving prescribed medication.
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The FBI agents interviewed by the OIG said that a doctor gave all
detainees a medical examination upon their arrival at the facility. One
agent also recalled several incidents when the doctor interrupted an
interview to check on the detainee. Another agent stated that some of
the detainees had diabetes or heart conditions, and the outside of each
detainee’s cell would indicate whether he needed specific medication and
when he was to receive it.

Agents stated that detainees were given showers regularly and
were escorted to the toilets periodically and also upon request. The FBI
Team Leader stated that detainees stayed at

Adair described the medical screening process for new detainees in
a similar fashion as the FBI agents. He stated that the surgeon and an
interpreter interviewed each detainee individually to determine if there
were health problems or injuries. Once the doctor cleared a detainee, the
detainee was given a prison uniform consisting of medical scrubs and
was assigned to an individual cell. '

During a DOD investigation of conditions in the ||| Gz
ﬂ, one of the DIA civilian interrogators stated in his
affidavit that he noticed some detainees arriving at the facility in May
and June 2004 with fresh injuries such as bruises that were not
recorded in the medical screening sheets. The DIA interrogator stated
that all detainees were screened by the facility’s medical doctor within
the first hour of their arrival, but only “major medical problems” were
being recorded. He said that some detainees complained to him of back
pain in the area of the kidneys, but that the medical screening did not
note these complaints. Another DIA debriefer stated that about 50
percent of the detainees arriving at
“appear to have been mistreated” before they got there.

A memorandum from
to the Director of the DIA dated July 6, 2004, stated that the ongoin
internal investigation of detainee abuse by the ﬂ
* found that “it is not uncommon for
detainees to arrive with bruises from actions during capture,” and that
there was an “on-going case of kidney stones in the facility, and medical

opinion of recurrent kidney problems due to the water, but no abuse
specific to detainees’ kidneys.”
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We found insufficient evidence to support the conclusion that

Adair was resEonsible for anir inadequacies in medical treatment at the

3. Alleged Deprivation of Food or Water

Ryan said that when he was in another city in Iraq, he “observed
the utilization of food /water deprivation on one detainee.” He said that
he “only personally observed this abuse occurring” in another city, but -

that the unnamed military interrogator told him that the “same thing
was going on at the NS

-

We are not aware of any military policies that permitted depriving
detainees of minimally sufficient food or water, either as an interrogation
technique or as a general detainee management practice.

The accounts of the FBI agents varied concerning food and water
restrictions at the facility. Some agents said they were unaware of an
food or water deprivation.

However, neither of the two agents
stated that they personally

participated in depriving detainees of food or water. One of these two
agents said that when a detainee asked for food, the agents asked the
military personnel to give the detainee an MRE. Other agents told us

224 Item “T” in the April 2003 GTMO Policy approved by the Secretary of Defense
explicitly provided that the permitted tactic of “dietary manipulation” did not include
the “intended deprivation of food or water.”
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that after they gave water to detainees or that whenever a detainee asked
for a drink, they would give him one. Three agents said that there was
water in the interrogation rooms for the detainees or that they often
offered water to the detainees. One of the agents said that food and
water was always available, but that he received a few complaints about
the quality of the food.

Two agents also stated that none of the detainees appeared to be
malnourished or dehydrated. They added that the detainees appeared
well fed or gained weight at the facility. However, this observation seems
inconsistent with the agents’ statement that most detainees were
released or transferred out of the

Adair said that
the detainees were never deprived of food or water. He stated

that if a detainee arrived at night, the detainee might have to wait until
morning for the next ration cycle, but he would never be deprived of

The limited evidence available to the OIG regarding the deprivation
of food or water at was conflicting.

Moreover, we did not find any
evidence that the team of FBI agents deployed to the facility participated
in depriving detainees of food or water.

We recommend that the military make its own findings regarding
whether military policy was violated and whether Adair was responsible
for any violation. If the military concludes that Adair was culpable, we
recommend that the military communicate this finding to the FBI.

4. Alleged Sleep Deprivation

Ryan stated that in another Iraqi city “sleep deprivation techniques

.- He said that he did not personally observe this
technique employed at N 1. < that

the military interrogator in Falluja told him that it was used there.
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Several FBI agents deployed to
ave information consistent with what Ryan reported.

. However, both
agents insisted that they were not deliberately using sleep deprivation as
an interview technique.

Adair told the OIG that sleep deprivation was used at the facility as
an interrogation technique while he was there. He stated that it was
considered a “harsh-up technique.”

He said that he
knew that sleep deprivation could not be used by the FBI in the United
States.

Initially, the
military relied on Field Manual 34-52, which did not list sleep
management, sleep deprivation, or extended interrogations among the 17
interrogation “approaches” that could be used in order to elicit
information from detainees. Church Report at 33-37, 257. On
September 14, 2003, the first Interrogation and Counter-Resistance
Policy for the Iraq theater was issued. Id. at 257, 263.
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We note, however, that the Church
Report found that “dissemination of approved interrogation policies [in
Iraq] was ineffective, resulting in widespread lack of awareness of which
techniques were currently authorized at the unit level.” Church Report at
276.

We recommend that the military make its own findings regarding
whether military policy was violated and whether Adair was responsible
for any violation. If the military concludes that he was responsible, we
recommend that the military communicate this finding to the FBI.

5. Allegations Regarding Harsh Interrogation
Techniques

Adair confirmed that one technique used by the military at the
facility was to drip cold water down the detainee’s back during an
interrogation to make him cold. He said that this was a “harsh-up”

. He acknowledged that it was used while he was at the
facility. Adair described this practice of dripping water down a detainee’s
back if he was being uncooperative as “annoying” to the detainee.

In addition, Adair said that before he arrived at the facility
interrogators would “strip down” detainees, which he said was culturally
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humiliating. He said that he heard that interrogators also would tell the

detainee after usini the “strii down” techniiue that r

Adair also described other “harsh-up” techniques used by the
military, including requiring detainees to do push-ups or calisthenics or
to sit in the “invisible chair” condition, blindfolding, and sleep
deprivation, which we addressed above. He said that the number of

times “harsh-up” techniques were used during the time he was at the
facilic

Adair stated that although these techniques were approved by the
military hierarchy, he would not have used them as an FBI agent in the
United States. He also said that he did not think these techniques were
as effective as the FBI’s rapport-building approach. He stated that he
believed that none of the detainees were in grave danger or were
physically harmed and that he had personally been through worse
treatment during Army Ranger training and pledging for his college
fraternity.

The FBI agents who were deployed to the facility provided little
information to the OIG regarding the use of harsh or aggressive
techniques at the facility. One agent said that the military interrogators
wanted to use methods like forced physical training and hooding, but
that these techniques had been abandoned after the Abu Ghraib prison
scandal. This agent said that at the end-of-shift briefings, the topic of
applying more stringent interrogation techniques with a detainee was
raised only two to three times. However, he said that he did not consider
the stricter techniques to be abusive and believed that they were closely
monitored by the military.

Another agent reported that he heard loud music from certain
interrogation rooms and that military interrogators told him they were
forcing detainees to perform physical training exercises.

The FBI Team Leader told us he recalled that while he was at the
facility, to
use “harsh-up” techniques two times, but the FBI agents did not
participate. He said he did not look at the request and did not know
specifically what techniques were to be used. The Team Leader added
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Adair told the OIG that a lot of the harsher milit techniques

that had been used before he came to the

Therefore, the evidence indicated that during Adair’s command of
the facility, interrogators used interrogation techniques that were not
approved by the military. However, as noted above, the Church Report
found that dissemination of approved interrogation policies in Iraq was
ineffective. Church Report at 276. The report also indicated that
compliance with the policies was “often incomplete, even when units
were in possession of the latest guidance.” Id. The Church investigators

We recommend that the milit review whether milit olicies
were violated at the N

, and whether Adair was responsible for any such
violations. We recommend that that the military communicate any
findings to the FBI.

6. Allegations Regarding Use of Restraints

Several FBI agents told the OIG that

Detainees were also handcuffed while outside of the cells for security
reasons. One of the agents said that it was the interviewer’s discretion
whether the detainee was restrained during the interview, and that
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handcuffs were generally removed as a reward for cooperating and as a
sign of respect that often had a positive impact on the interview.
Occasionally a detainee would complain about the handcuffs being too
tight during the interviews, and the agent would ask the military
personnel to loosen the cuffs.

We also received information that FBI agents participated in
deciding whether detainees would be handcuffed inside their cells
following an interview, as part of a system of rewards for cooperation and

One of the two FBI agents who described

. The other said this happened “most of the time.” The first agent

said that on more than “a couple” of occasions he and his FBI partner
I .1

detainee’s next interrogation. However, the other agent said that the
was a military tool and not an FBI creation. The
first agent also told us that it would have created problems for the
agents’ relationship with the military to designate a detainee as
cooperative, , if the detainee had in
fact lied or been uncooperative.
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As previously explained, at all relevant times FBI policy prohibited
agents from obtaining statements from detainees by the use of force,
threats, physical abuse, threats of such abuse or severe physical
conditions. Part 1, Section 1-4 of the MAOP specifically provides that
these prohibitions are applicable to “all phases of the FBI’s work
[including] foreign counterintelligence.” Accordingly, it has been the
official FBI position that agents should not participate in any
interrogation techniques overseas that they would not be permitted to
use in the United States. '

We do not take issue with using restraints for safety or security
considerations. However, the restraint classification system described by
several of the agents appears to have been in large part connected to the
interrogation function and whether the detainee was cooperating. The
OIG concluded that in the United States FBI agents would not have been
permitted to require that a person in custody be restrained (handcuffed)
in his cell for hours or days as punishment for failure to cooperate in an
interview. We believe that such a tactic would likely be considered using
physical abuse or severe physical conditions to obtain a statement,
which would be in violation of FBI policy.226

226 As noted in Chapter Ten, we determined that at least one FBI agent at [JJ}
d was also involved in deciding whether a detainee would

(Cont’d.)

346



As detailed in prior chapters, however, before May 2004 the FBI’s
written policies did not clearly address whether FBI agents should
participate in joint interview strategies with non-FBI personnel who were
using techniques that were approved by their agencies. In approximately
July 2002, the FBI Director made a determination that the FBI would not
participate in detainee interrogations in which other agencies’ harsher
techniques were being used, but this was not reflected in written policy
until the FBI issued its May 2004 Detainee Policy, which stated: “If a co-
interrogator is complying with the rules of his or her agency, but is not in
compliance with FBI rules, FBI personnel may not participate in the
interrogation and must remove themselves from the situation.” Some
FBI agents deployed at the facility recalled receiving a policy statement
while in Iraq, which was likely the FBI’s May 2004 Detainee Policy.
Although implementation of the categorization program at the detention
facility did not strictly speaking involve a “co-interrogator,” the FBI
agents should have recognized that their participation in this program
was at least problematic, and should have considered seeking guidance
from FBI managers.227

The FBI’s May 2004 Detainee Policy also required agents to report
any instances of “abuse” by non-FBI interrogators to the FBI’s On-Scene
Commander. We found no evidence that the FBI agents deployed to the
detention facility considered the use of in-cell restraints by the military to
punish uncooperative detainees to constitute “abuse,” or that the agents

receive a blanket or mattress in his cell, based on whether he was cooperative in
interviews.

227 As discussed in Section II1.D. of Chapter Six, the FBI OGC addressed the
in a May 2006 Electronic Communication. The OGC concluded
that for more
than 8 hours constituted “severe physical conditions.” The OGC therefore
recommended that CTD prohibit its employees from interrogating detainees who had
been kept in these conditions for & hours or more until completion of a “cooling off”
period (typically at least 12 hours) following removal of these conditions. The OGC’s -
May 2006 EC did not address whether it would be permissible for an FBI agent to make
a recommendation regarding whether a detainee should be ﬂ

based on the detainee’s level of cooperation in an interview. We believe that
the OGC’s analysis strongly suggests that an FBI agent would not be permitted to make
such a recommendation if the h exceeded 8 hours. For the reasons
discussed above, we believe that any involvement in using as an
incentive to provide information would be contrary to FBI policy, even if the

was less than 8 hours.
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reported the use of such techniques up their own chain of command.
Moreover, no useful guidance was provided to assist the agents to
discern the line between acceptable aggressive techniques permitted
under military policy and “abuse.” In this environment, and in light of
the nature of the restraints used by the military, we do not conclude that
the FBI agents deployed to the detention facility violated their obligation
to report “abuse.”

As previously noted, we evaluated Adair’s conduct as the officer in
charge of the detention facility in terms of applicable military policy,
because Adair was acting in his capacity as a milit officer at the time.

The program also could have been considered as an example of
“Incentive/Removal of Incentive,” which was approved for use throughout
the relevant period.

Moreover, if the program was neither a “stress position” nor an

“incentive /removal of incentive,” and did not fall within any of the other
specific listed techniques,

Adair denied knowing that in-cell restraints were used as a
punishment for non-cooperation. Yet, in light of the FBI agents’ specific
recollection of this program, and the DIA interrogator’s affidavit, we
found that such a practice took place at the detention facility. We believe
that the military should assess whether the categorization procedure was
consistent with applicable military interrogation policies. If it was not,
we recommend that the military assess Adair’s role in permitting the
categorization system for applying in-cell restraints, and report the
findings to the FBI. '
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7. Allegations Regarding Blindfolding/Goggles

We did not question the use of goggles or blindfolds during the
transportation of detainees as a securi recaution.

. We believe that, absent a legitimate security purpose,
such a technique could be considered “duress or intimidation” and would
not be permissible in the United States under FBI policy. See MAOP Part
1, 1-4(4), p. 27. Under FBI policy, the FBI agents deployed to the
detention facility should not have participated in interrogations using
this technique. However, we did not find any evidence that FBI agents
used this technique during interrogations, except for the single, relatively
minor incident described above.

We did not receive any evidence that the FBI agents reported the
military’s use of blindfolding or goggles up the FBI chain of command.
For the same reasons discussed in the prior section, we cannot conclude
that this technique constituted “abuse” as that undefined term is used in
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the FBI’s May 2004 Detainee Policy, and we cannot fault the agents for
declining to report it.

8. Alleged Threats

One of the FBI agents told us that he and another agent sometimes
used a ruse in which they would advise a detainee that if he did not
cooperate, they would take him back to the United States where he
would face criminal charges and spend time in a maximum security
prison. A summary of a detainee interview in an EC dated May 22, 2004,
referred to the use of this technique and the detainee’s reaction: “It
should be noted that [the detainee] was visibly upset when told that a
letter would be written to his wife in order to notify her of his impending
departure to the United States to face a prison sentence, a pretext
utilized by the interviewing agents.” This EC was sent through the Team
Leader to CTD.

The same FBI agent mentioned another ruse where the agents
would threaten to bring the detainee’s family members to the facility and
then eventually to the United States for prosecution. He said that they
stopped employing this ruse when they realized that it was not working.
The agent said that they discussed the use of the ruse with the other
agents, including the Team Leader, and that no one expressed any
objection.

Section 7 of the Legal Handbook for Special Agents (LHBSA),
“Confessions and Interrogations,” states in pertinent part: “Itis the
policy of the FBI that no attempt be made to obtain a statement by . . .
threats . . ..” LHBSA § 7-2.1. However, the line between permissible
ruses and impermissible threats is difficult to state with precision. FBI
training materials provided to the OIG do not elaborate on this
distinction but refer to court decisions regarding the admissibility of
confessions. These materials point out that although courts have found
confessions inadmissible when extracted by threats to arrest a relative or
friend, courts applying the “totality of circumstances test” have admitted
confessions following threats to arrest or charge another. Consequently,
we did not find a basis for concluding, under the totality of the
circumstances, that the FBI agents violated FBI policy with respect to
using these ruses.

9. Allegations that Detainee Was Subjected to Electric
Shock
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This

alleged incident involved solely military personnel, and did not occur at
the facility while under Adair’s command.

10. Allegation Concerning Abuse of a Female Detainee

Ryan told the OIG that he overheard a conversation between [JJ}

Ryan also
said that the staff members discussed that the incident was under
investigation.

Adair also told us that he recalled hearing about this incident and
that it was investigated by the military, but that it allegedly occurred
prior to his arrival. We found no evidence that any FBI agent was
involved or alleged to be involved in the matter. Because this incident
involved solely military personnel and occurred prior to the FBI agents or
Adair arriving at the facility, the OIG did not investigate it. We do riot
know whether the DOD ever investigated this matter.

F. OIG Conclusions Concernini Alleiations at |l

In sum, the OIG did not substantiate that the FBI agents who
served as interrogators at the facility from May to June 2004 engaged in
the inappropriate conduct alleged by Ryan, including deprivation of food
and sleep, and inhumane treatment. However, we found that some FBI
agents knowingly participated in the categorization system for restraining
detainees in the cells who were not cooperative in interrogations. We
believe that this activity probably would not have been permitted in the
United States under FBI policies. The FBI’'s May 2004 Detainee Policy,
which reiterated the applicability of existing FBI interrogation policies in
the military zones, was issued very near the time that this conduct took
place. We also believe that these incidents demonstrate that the
applicability of existing FBI policies in the military zones was not made
clear to all FBI agents prior to the issuance of the May 2004 Detainee
Policy.

We recommend that the military review Adair’s conduct in light of
the applicable military policies to determine whether he was in
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compliance with those policies. If the military concludes that he was not,
we recommend that the military share its findings with the FBI.
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CHAPTER TWELVE
CONCLUSIONS

In this chapter we summarize our findings regarding the FBI’s
participation in, observations of, and reporting of the treatment of
detainees in the military zones in Guantanamo Bay, Iraq, and
Afghanistan. We also describe the disposition of reports that FBI agents
made regarding concerns they had about detainee treatment. We also
provide our conclusions and recommendations relating to the adequacy
of the FBI’s response to requests from its agents for guidance regarding
these issues and the adequacy of responses from FBI Headquarters and
the Department of Justice (DOJ) to reports from FBI agents regarding
other agencies’ interrogation practices.

I. Background

As a result of the September 11 attacks, the FBI refocused its top
priority to counterterrorism and preventing terrorist attacks in the
United States. As a consequence of this shift, and in recognition of the
FBI’s investigative expertise and familiarity with al-Qaeda, the FBI
became more involved in collecting intelligence and evidence overseas,
particularly in military zones in Afghanistan, at the U.S. Naval Base at
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba (GTMO), and in Iraq.

Beginning in December 2001, the FBI sent a small number of
agents and other employees to Afghanistan to obtain actionable
intelligence for its counterterrorism efforts, primarily by interviewing
detainees at various Department of Defense (DOD) and CIA facilities. In
January 2002, the military began transferring “illegal enemy
combatants” from Afghanistan to GTMO, and the FBI began deploying
personnel to GTMO to obtain intelligence and evidence from detainees in
cooperation with military interrogators. Following the invasion of Iraq in
March 2003, the FBI sent agents and other employees to Iraq with the
primary objective of collecting and analyzing information to help protect
against terrorist threats in the United States and protecting U.S.
personnel or interests overseas. FBI deployments in the military zones
peaked at approximately 25 employees in Afghanistan, 30 at GTMO, and
60 in Iraq at any one time. In total, more than 200 FBI employees served
in Afghanistan between late 2001 and the end of 2004 (the period
covered by our survey), more than 500 employees served at GTMO
during this period, and more than 260 served in Iraq.
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II. FBI Policies Regarding Detainee Interrogations

Prior to May 19, 2004, the FBI did not issue any formal written
policies to its agents regarding FBI interviews of detainees in the military
zones. Many FBI agents told us that they were instructed to comply with
existing FBI policies for custodial interviews in the United States, except
for providing Miranda warnings. These FBI policies, which prohibit
agents from attempting to obtain statements by force, threats, or
promises, reflect constitutional considerations of voluntariness as a
condition of preserving the legal admissibility of statements in judicial
proceedings. They also reflect the FBI’s long-standing belief, based on
years of experience, that rapport-based interview techniques are the
most effective means of obtaining reliable information through custodial
interviews.

However, existing FBI interrogation policies did not address the
difficult issues confronted by FBI agents in the military zones, such as
what agents should do when they observe an interrogator from another
agency using techniques that are not permissible for the FBI. On
May 19, 2004, shortly after the detainee abuses at Abu Ghraib prison in
Iraq became public, the FBI issued a policy instructing its agents to
remove themselves from any interview in which non-FBI interrogators
used techniques not in compliance with FBI rules. In addition, the May
2004 Policy directed FBI employees to report any incidents of known or
suspected abuse or mistreatment to their On-Scene Commanders (OSC).

III. Agent Observations Regarding Detainee Treatment

Several military and commission reports have assessed the
treatment of detainees by the military, but none have comprehensively
addressed the FBI’s role and observations regarding detainee treatment.
As part of this review, the OIG surveyed more than 1,000 FBI employees
who were sent to the military zones between late 2001 and the end of
2004. Our survey sought information about more than 30 separate
interrogation techniques, ranging from depriving a detainee of clothing to
electric shocks and beatings. (A copy of the OIG survey is attached to
this report as Appendix A.) We also conducted over 230 interviews to
determine what FBI employees witnessed or learned about potentially
abusive treatment of detainees.

While a majority of FBI employees in each military zone reported in
response to our survey that they never saw or heard about any of the
specific aggressive interrogation techniques listed in our survey, a
significant number of FBI agents said they had observed or heard about
military interrogators using a variety of harsh interrogation techniques
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on detainees. Most of these harsh techniques involved conduct or
interrogation techniques that the FBI would not be permitted to use in
the United States. It appears that many - but not all - of these harsh
interrogation techniques were authorized under military policies in effect
in the military zones. However, virtually none of the FBI employees
reported that they observed detainee abuse comparable to that which
occurred at Abu Ghraib prison.

GTMO. The most commonly reported technique used by non-FBI
interrogators on detainees at GTMO was sleep deprivation or disruption.
Numerous FBI agents told the OIG that they witnessed the military’s use
of a regimen known as the “frequent flyer program” to undermine cell
block relationships among detainees and to disrupt detainees’ sleep in an
effort to lessen their resistance to questioning. A few FBI agents
participated in this program by requesting military officials to subject
particular detainees to these frequent cell relocations. Other FBI agents
described observing military interrogators use bright lights, loud music,
and extreme temperatures to keep detainees awake or otherwise wear
down their resistance.

Prolonged short-shackling, in which a detainee’s hands were
shackled close to his feet to prevent him from standing or sitting
comfortably, was another of the most frequently reported techniques
observed by FBI agents at GTMO. This technique was sometimes used in
conjunction with holding detainees in rooms where the temperature was
very cold or very hot in order to break the detainees’ resolve.

The DOD’s Church Report found that the practice of short-
shackling prisoners constituted a “stress position.” Stress positions were
prohibited at GTMO under DOD policy beginning in January 2003. FBI
agents’ observations confirm that prolonged short-shackling continued at
GTMO for at least a year after the DOD policy prohibiting stress positions
took effect. ‘

FBI agents also observed the use of isolation at GTMO, both to
prevent detainees from coordinating their responses to interrogators and,
in its most extreme form, to deprive detainees of human contact as a
means of reducing their resistance to interrogation. We found that in
several cases FBI agents participated in interrogations of detainees who
were subjected to prolonged isolation by the military.

In addition, FBI agents reported a number of other harsh or
unusual interrogation techniques used by the military at GTMO. These
incidents tended to be small in number but became notorious because of
their nature. They included using a growling military dog to intimidate a
detainee during interrogation; twisting a detainee’s thumbs back; using a
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female interrogator to touch or provoke a detainee in a sexual manner;
wrapping a detainee’s head in duct tape; exposing a detainee to
pornography; and wrapping a detainee in the flag of Israel.

Afghanistan. FBI employees in Afghanistan conducted detainee
interviews at the major military collection points in Bagram and
Kandahar and at other smaller facilities. The most frequently reported
techniques used by military interrogators in Afghanistan were sleep
deprivation or disruption, prolonged shackling, stress positions, loud
music, and isolation. Several FBI employees also told us they had heard
about two detainee deaths at the military facility in Bagram, but none of
the FBI employees said they had personal knowledge of these deaths,
which were investigated by the DOD.

Iraq. We received varied reports from agents who were detailed to
Iraq. For example, several FBI agents said they observed detainees

deprived of clothing at Abu Ghraib prison or the ||| GGcTcTcNcGNGGE
B Ohc: frequently reported

techniques identified by FBI agents as used by military personnel in Iraq
included sleep deprivation or interruption, loud music and bright lights,
isolation of detainees, and hooding or blindfolding during interrogations.
FBI employees also reported the use of stress positions, prolonged
shackling, and forced exercise in Iraq. In addition, several FBI agents
told the OIG that they became aware of unregistered “ghost detainees” at
Abu Ghraib whose presence was not reflected in official DOD records.

We also heard reﬁorts from FBI aients that detainees r

Although several FBI agents were deployed to the Abu Ghraib
prison in Iraq, they told us that they did not witness the extreme conduct
that occurred at that facility in late 2003 and that was publicly reported
in April 2004. The FBI agents explained that they typically worked
outside of the main prison building where the abuses occurred, and they
did not have access to the facility at night when much of the abuse took
place.
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IV. The Disposition of FBI Agents’ Reports Regarding Detainee
Mistreatment

In our review, we examined how FBI agents’ reports about military
detainee interrogation practices were handled, both by FBI managers and
by senior officials in the Department of Justice.228

Our review found that the first time a major incident of possible
detainee mistreatment was reported to senior managers in the FBI was in
the spring of 2002 when two FBI agents were assigned to assist in the
interrogation of a high value detainee, Zubaydah, at a secret CIA facility
overseas. Zubaydah had been severely wounded when he was captured
in Pakistan in March 2002, and the two FBI agents obtained intelligence
from him while helping him recover from his injuries. Within a few days
after the CIA assumed control of Zubaydah’s interrogation, one of the FBI
agents expressed concern to senior officials in the Counterterrorism
Division (CTD) at FBI Headquarters about the techniques beinﬁ bi used

the CIA. The techniques reported by the agent included
I . -:cnt's concerns Iod to
discussions at FBI Headquarters and with the DOJ and the CIA about
the FBI’s role in joint interrogations with other agencies, and ultimately
resulted in a determination by FBI Director Mueller in the summer of
2002 that the FBI would not participate in joint interrogations of
detainees with other agencies in which harsh or extreme techniques not

allowed by the FBI would be employed.

Later in 2002, FBI agents assigned to GTMO began raising
questions to FBI Headquarters regarding harsh interrogation techniques
being used by the military. These concerns were focused particularly on
the treatment of Muhammad Al-Qahtani, a Saudi national who had
unsuccessfully attempted to enter the United States in August 2001, and
who was allegedly sent to the United States to be one of the
September 11, 2001, hijackers. After his capture and transfer to GTMO,
Al-Qahtani resisted initial FBI attempts to interview him. In September
2002, the military assumed control over the interrogation of Al-Qahtani,
although behavioral specialists from the FBI continued to observe and
provide advice. The FBI agents became concerned when the military
announced a plan to keep Al-Qahtani awake during continuous 20-hour
interviews for an indefinite period and when they observed military
interrogators use increasingly harsh and demeaning techniques, such as

228 We did not examine issues related to DOJ Office of Legal Counsel opinions
concerning the legality of several interrogation techniques the CIA sought to use on
certain high value detainees. While senior FBI and DOJ officials were aware of these
opinions, an assessment of the validity of OLC legal opinions was beyond the scope of
this review.
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menacing Al-Qahtani with a snarling dog in very close proximity to him
during his interrogation.

Friction between FBI officials and the military over the
interrogation plans for Al-Qahtani increased during October and
November 2002. The FBI continued to advocate for a long-term rapport-
based strategy, while the military insisted on a more aggressive
“approach. Between late November 2002 and mid-January 2003, the
military used numerous aggressive techniques on Al-Qahtani, including
attaching a leash to him and making him perform dog tricks, placing him
in stress positions, forcing him to be nude in front of a female, accusing
him of homosexuality, placing women’s underwear on his head and over
his clothing, and instructing him to pray to an idol shrine. FBI and DOJ
officials did not learn about the techniques used between late November
2002 and mid-January 2003 until much later. However, in early
December 2002, an agent learned that Al-Qahtani was hospitalized
briefly for what the military told the FBI was low blood pressure and low
body core temperature.

. As aresult of the interrogations of Al-Qahtani and other detainees
at GTMO, several FBI agents raised concerns with the DOD and FBI
Headquarters about: (1) the legality and effectiveness of DOD
techniques; (2) the impact of these techniques on the future prosecution
of detainees in court or before military commissions; and (3) the potential
problems that public exposure of these techniques would create for the
FBI as an agency and FBI agents individually. Some of these concerns
were expressed to FBI Headquarters in e-mails from agents at GTMO.
The informal response these agents received from Headquarters was that
agents could continue to witness DOD interrogations involving non-FBI
authorized techniques so long as they did not participate. During this
period, however, FBI agents continued to raise objections directly with
DOD officials at GTMO and to seek guidance from senior officials in the
FBI’s Counterterrorism Division (CTD). Senior FBI officials told us they
had no recollection of these communications, and no formal responses
were ever received by the agents who wrote these communications.

We determined, however, that some of the FBI agents’ concerns
regarding the DOD’s interrogation approach at GTMO were
communicated by senior FBI officials in the CTD to senior officials in the
Criminal Division of DOJ and ultimately to the Attorney General. FBI
Headquarters officials said.they discussed the issue in meetings with
Bruce Swartz (Deputy Assistant Attorney General), David Nahmias
(counsel to the Assistant Attorney General), and others in the Criminal
Division. Two witnesses told us that they recalled conversations with
Alice Fisher (at the time the Deputy Assistant Attorney General for the
Criminal Division) regarding the ineffectiveness of military interrogations
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at GTMO. Fisher told us that she could not recall discussing detainee
treatment or particular interrogation techniques with the FBI, but that
she was aware that the FBI did not consider DOD interrogations at
GTMO to be effective. Concerns about the efficacy of DOD interrogation
techniques also reached Michael Chertoff (then Assistant Attorney
General for the Criminal Division), Deputy Attorney General Larry
Thompson, and Attorney General John Ashcroft.

The witnesses we interviewed generally said they recalled that the
primary concern expressed at this level was that DOD techniques and
interrogators were ineffective at developing actionable intelligence. These
witnesses did not identify the FBI agents’ concerns about the legality of
the techniques or their impact on future prosecutions as a focus of these
discussions.

We also learned about a proposal developed by certain FBI and
DOJ officials in late 2002 to Al-Qahtani _
for interrogation. This

recommendation was reflected in a draft letter from a DOJ official’s files

describing a proposal to request the National Security Council ||| | |l
. The draft letter recommended that Al-
Qahtani be interrogated using such as

the one the CIA used on Zubaydah. Nahmias and the Unit Chief of the
FBI’s Military Liaison and Detainee Unit told the OIG that the rationale

for this proposal was to get Al-Qahtani away from the military’s
ineffective interrogation techniques

However, both the Unit Chief and Nahmias stated that they did not know
what techniques had been used by the CIA until much later. The
proposal h Al-Qahtani was discussed with the DOD, ||| |
and the National Security Council. However, there is no evidence that

these discussions included specific references to the methods used on
Zubaydah.

The DOD resisted the proposal |G

B -4 it was not pushed to an ultimate decision. Nahmias told us
the proposal was “overtaken by events.” One such event was likely the
fact that Al-Qahtani began cooperating with military interrogators in
April 2003, obviating the underlying rationale for the proposal. Senior
officials such as FBI Director Mueller, former Assistant Attorney General
Chertoff, and current Assistant Attorney General Fisher told us that they

did see the draft letter or take part in anv specific discussion of the
oroposa! N

On a broader level, we were unable to determine definitively
whether the concerns of the FBI and DOJ about DOD interrogation
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techniques were ever addressed by any of the structures created for
resolving inter-agency disputes about antiterrorism issues. These
structures included the Policy Coordinating Committee, the “Principals”
Committee, and the “Deputies” Committee, all chaired by the National
Security Council (NSC). Several senior DOJ Criminal Division officials
also told us that they raised concerns about particular DOD detainee
practices in 2003 with the National Security Council, but they did not
recall learning that any changes were made at GTMO as a result. Several
witnesses told us that they believed that Attorney General Ashcroft spoke
with the NSC or the DOD about these concerns, but former Attorney
General Ashcroft declined our request for an interview in connection with
this report.

Several factors likely affected the resolution of the FBI and DOJ
concerns about the military’s interrogations. On January 15, 2003,
Defense Secretary Rumsfeld rescinded his prior authorization of some of
the more aggressive DOD interrogation techniques. In addition, in April
2003 Al-Qahtani became fully cooperative with military interrogators.
Moreover, based on the information we obtained in the OIG survey and
our follow-up interviews, we believe that around this time the military
also reduced the frequency and severity of its use of many of the
techniques that troubled the FBI agents deployed at GTMO.

Ultimately, we found that the DOD made the decisions regarding
what interrogation techniques would be used by military interrogators at
GTMO, because GTMO was a DOD facility and the FBI was there in a
‘support capacity. Similarly, the DOD controlled what techniques were
used in Afghanistan and Iraq. As a result, once it was clearly established
within each zone that military interrogators were permitted to use
interrogation techniques that were not available to FBI agents, the FBI
On-Scene Commanders said they often did not elevate reports of harsh
detainee interrogations to their superiors at FBI Headquarters.

In general, we found that FBI agents deployed to Afghanistan and
Iraq made fewer reports to their supervisors regarding detainee
mistreatment than were raised by FBI agents assigned to GTMO. Unhke
the situation at GTMO, FBI agents in Afghanistan and Iraq were
operating in a war zone — an environment in which they were dependent
on the military for protection and support. In such a situation, agents
were reluctant to raise complaints about the military’s conduct, and also
assumed that the rules were different in this environment.

We also found that in all three military zones FBI agents
sometimes sought to resolve their concerns about detainee treatment
directly with military personnel without elevating the issue to FBI
Headquarters. These efforts met with mixed results. At GTMO, FBI
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personnel who were concerned about short-shackled detainees worked
with the DOD’s Criminal Investigative Task Force to persuade the DOD
to officially eliminate this practice in 2002. However, reports of DOD
short-shackling continued into 2004. In other instances, the FBI’s On-
Scene Commanders and other FBI agents reported that they were able to
resolve their concerns with their DOD counterparts in the military zones
and therefore did not have to raise them with their supervisors. For
example, at GTMO the FBI’s On-Scene Commander was able to resolve
concerns about military personnel impersonating FBI agents with his
military counterpart. Similarly, some agents deployed to Afghanistan
and Iraq told us they were able to resolve incidents of rough handling of
detainees by the military by discussing the issue with military
commanders.

V. OIG Analysis
A. FBI Conduct in the Military Zones

We found that the vast majority of FBI agents deployed to the
military zones understood that existing FBI policies prohibiting coercive
interrogation tactics continued to apply in the military zones and that
they should not engage in conduct overseas that would not be permitted
under FBI policy in the United States. To the FBI’s credit, it decided in
2002 to continue to apply FBI interrogation policies to detainees in the
military zones. As a result, most FBI agents adhered to the FBI’s
traditional rapport-based interview strategies in the military zones and
avoided participating in the aggressive or questionable interrogation
techniques that the military employed. We found no instances in which
an FBI agent participated in clear detainee abuse of the kind that some
military interrogators used at Abu Ghraib prison. We credit the
judgment of the FBI agents deployed to the military zones for this result,
as well as the guidance that some FBI supervisors provided during the
period that the FBI’s new role in counterterrorism was first evolving.

However, we found a few incidents of FBI presence or involvement
in interrogations in which techniques were used that clearly would not
be permissible for FBI agents to use in the United States. These
included:

e FBI participation in the interrogations of

(Chapter Four).
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e An FBI agent recommending isolation from human contact
for Al-Qahtani at the Navy Brig in GTMO in August 2002
(Chapter Five).

e FBI agents participating in the isolation of Al-Sharabi at
GTMO 1in April 2003, including telling him that theirs were
the only human faces he would see until he provided
information (Chapter Eleven).

e FBI agents participating in a system of categorizing detainees
according to level of cooperation and

in 2004. (Chapters Ten

and Eleven).

e FBI agents participating in an interrogation in Iraq in which
detainees were placed in a stress position, given a “drink of
water” in a forceful and inappropriate manner, and
blindfolded with duct tape. (Chapter Eleven).

We also found incidents of FBI involvement in activities which,
although not constituting clear violations of FBI policy, were sufficiently
different from conventional FBI interrogation techniques to raise
questions about how existing policies should be applied. For example:

e FBI agents utilized the military’s “frequent flyer program” at
GTMO, which involved frequent detainee cell relocations and
sleep disruption (Chapters Eight and Eleven).

e An FBI agent utilized sleep disruption or deprivation as part
of an interrogation strategy in Afghanistan (Chapter Nine).

e FBI agents made promises of leniency to detainees including
Al-Sharabi (#569) that might taint a confession in the United
States (Chapter Eleven).

e FBI agents made potentially threatening statements to
detainees to the effect that unless they cooperated with the
FBI they would be turned over to military or CIA
interrogators who were permitted to use harsher techniques
(Chapters Five and Eleven).

We believe that FBI participation in these interrogation practices,
while few in number, reflected the fact that existing FBI policies were not
designed to address the new circumstances faced by FBI agents working
in military zones. We also believe that some of these incidents could
have been avoided if the FBI had responded more quickly and
comprehensively to repeated requests from its agents for additional
guidance.
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B. FBI Guidance

We concluded that FBI Headquarters did not sufficiently or timely
respond to repeated requests from its agents in the military zones for
guidance regarding their participation in detainee interrogations. No
formal FBI policy was issued until after the Abu Ghraib disclosures in
late April 2004, when the FBI’s Detainee Policy was quickly prepared and
released. '

As described in our report, the FBI’s involvement in detainee
interrogations raised at least four difficult issues: (1) what interrogation
techniques should FBI agents be allowed to use in the military zones; (2)
what should FBI agents do when other agencies begin using non-FBI
approved interrogation techniques during joint interviews; (3) when
should FBI agents be allowed to interview detainees who have previously
been subjected to non-FBI techniques; and (4) when and how should FBI
agents report harsh interrogation techniques used by other agencies. We
assess the FBI’s response to each of these issues separately below.

1. FBI-Approved Interrogation Techniques

As detailed in Chapter Four, as a result of the Zubaydah incident
in the summer of 2002 the FBI decided that it would not be involved in
interrogations in which other agencies used non-FBI techniques. Most
FBI agents told us that they were instructed or already knew that they
should adhere to the same standards of conduct for detainee interviews
that applied to custodial interviews in the United States. However, a
significant percentage of agents deployed to the military zones prior to
May 19, 2004, told us that they received no explicit guidance regarding
interrogation policies for detainees prior to their deployments overseas.
We believe that the agents had several reasons to be uncertain about
whether the rules were different in the military zones.

First, the FBI announced a change in priorities from evidence
collection for prosecution to intelligence collection for terrorism
prevention. FBI agents in the military zones could reasonably infer that
traditional law enforcement constraints on interview techniques were not
strictly applicable in the military zones, particularly with respect to “high
value” detainees. Second, conditions at detention facilities in the military
zones were vastly different from conditions in U.S. jails or prisons, and
FBI agents could have concluded that different interrogation techniques
were appropriate near combat zones or in dealing with terrorists at
GTMO. Consequently, some FBI interrogators used strategies that might
not be necessary or appropriate in the United States, such as extreme
isolation from other detainees or other strategies to undermine detainee
solidarity. Third, the FBI’s dependence on the military, which controlled
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the military zones, placed FBI agents in an awkward position to refuse to
participate in joint interviews in which non-FBI techniques were
employed.

We believe that factors such as these raised a legitimate question
for FBI agents as to whether conventional FBI law enforcement interview
policies and standards continued to apply to FBI interviews of detainees
in the military zones. Ultimately, senior FBI management determined
that pre-existing FBI standards (except Miranda warnings) should
remain in effect for all FBI interrogations in military zones, even where
future prosecution is not contemplated. However, we found that this
message did not always reach all FBI agents in the military zones. As
noted above, at least some FBI employees determined that departures
from conventional FBI strategies were appropriate in certain
circumstances.

We concluded that FBI management should have realized sooner
than May 2004 that it needed to issue a written policy addressing the
question of whether its pre-September 11 policies and standards for
custodial interviews should continue to be strictly applied in the military
zones. An unequivocal statement to that effect, clearly communicated to
all FBI agents being sent to the military zones, could have prevented
some of the incidents described above.

2. FBI Policy When Another Agency’s Interrogator
Uses Non-FBI Techniques

The FBI’'s May 2004 Detainee Policy states: “If a co-interrogator is
in compliance with the rules of his or her agency, but is not in
compliance with FBI rules, FBI personnel may not participate in the
interrogation and must remove themselves from the situation.” As
detailed in Chapter Three, the issue addressed by this requirement was
not addressed in prior FBI policies, primarily because in most joint
interrogations the FBI is in charge of the interrogation or the other
agency 1s subject to rules similar to FBI rules. This issue was raised to
FBI Headquarters well before the Abu Ghraib scandal broke, and we
believe that the FBI should have clarified its guidance before May
2004.22% For example, in the fall of 2002 FBI agents sought
Headquarters guidance on what they should do when confronted with

229 As detailed in Chapter Seven, some agents said that before May 2004 they
were told to leave interrogations if they saw anything “extreme,” “inappropriate,” or that
made them “uncomfortable.” However, many FBI agents who were deployed to the
military zones before the FBI's May 2004 Detainee Policy was issued told us they
received no training or guidance on conducting joint interviews with military or other
agency officials.
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aggressive military interrogation techniques being used on Al-Qahtani
and other detainees at GTMO. The agents were initially told that as long
as there was no “torture” involved, they could participate; other agents
were told that they could observe such techniques as long as they did not
participate, because the techniques were “apparently lawful” for the
military. These incidents indicate that the FBI should have addressed
the issue of what agents should do in these situations more explicitly
before May 2004.

3. FBI Interrogation of Detainees After Other
Agencies Use Non-FBI Techniques

The FBI’'s May 2004 Detainee Policy does not address the issue of
whether FBI agents may interview a detainee who has previously been
subjected to non-FBI interrogation techniques by other agencies. In
response to concerns expressed by agents and attorneys in the FBI after
the May 2004 Policy was issued, the FBI General Counsel directed OGC
lawyers to prepare legal advice that addressed, among other things, how
long after the military interrogations FBI agents needed to wait so as not
be considered a participant in the harsh interrogation. Several drafts of
supplemental policy to address this issue were prepared by OGC, but
none was ever finalized. Although the problem was diminished
somewhat by the fact that in 2006 the military promulgated a new,
uniform interrogation policy for all military theaters that stresses non-
coercive interrogation approaches (Field Manual 2-22.3), we believe this
has not obviated the need for clear FBI guidance with regard to these
questions. The revised military policy still permits DOD interrogators to
use some techniques that FBI agents probably cannot employ, such as
the methods known as “fear up” or “pride and ego down.”

Moreover, to the extent that the FBI continues to be involved with
interrogating detainees who previously have been interrogated by the
CIA, the problems remain significant and unresolved. CIA interrogation
rules diverge from FBI rules much more dramatically than does current
military policy. We therefore recommend that the FBI complete the
project that OGC began shortly after the issuance of its May 2004
Detainee Policy and address the issue of when FBI agents may interview
detainees previously interrogated by other agencies with non-FBI
techniques. The FBI should also address the issue of if and when FBI
agents may use information obtained in interrogations by other agencies
that employed non-FBI techniques.

4. Reporting Abuse or Mistreatment

Prior to issuance of the FBI’s May 2004 Detainee Policy, the FBI
did not provide specific or consistent guidance to its agents regarding
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when or how the conduct of other agencies toward detainees should be
reported. Some agents told us they were instructed to report problematic
interrogation techniques, but the definition of what to report was left
unclear. Leaving this matter to the discretion of individual FBI agents
put them in a difficult position, because FBI agents were trying to
establish a cooperative working relationship with the DOD while fulfilling
their intelligence-gathering responsibilities. Under these circumstances,
FBI agents had many reasons to avoid making reports regarding
potential mistreatment of detainees. In addition, the agents lacked
information regarding what techniques were permissible for non-FBI
interrogators. We were therefore not surprised that some agents who
said they observed or heard about potentially coercive interrogation
techniques did not report such incidents to anyone at the time.

Despite the absence of useful guidance, however, several FBI
agents recognized the need to bring concerns about other agencies’
interrogation techniques to the attention of their On-Scene Commanders
or senior officials at the FBI. These agents should be commended.

In addition, in light of the recurring instances beginning in 2002 in
which agents in the military zones raised questions about the
appropriateness of other agencies’ interrogation techniques, we think
that FBI management should have recognized sooner the need for clear
and consistent standards and procedures for FBI agents to make these
reports. We believe that the matter could have been addressed by FBI
and DOD Headquarters officials to minimize tensions between FBI agents
in the military zones and their military counterparts. Such an approach
should have clarified: - (1) what DOD policies were, (2) how the DOD was
dealing with deviations from these policies, and (3) what FBI agents
should do in the event they observed deviations.

The FBI’'s May 2004 Detainee Policy did not resolve these issues.
The Policy requires FBI employees to report any instance when the
employee “knows or suspects non-FBI personnel has abused or is
abusing or mistreating a detainee,” but it contains no definition of abuse
or mistreatment. According to an e-mail from the General Counsel,
agents with questions about the definitions of abuse or mistreatment
were instructed by Headquarters to report conduct that they know or
suspect is “beyond the authorization of the person doing the harsh
interrogation.” We found, however, that many agents did not know what
techniques were permitted under military policies and therefore could
not determine if a particular activity was “beyond the authorization of the
person doing the harsh interrogation.”

Going forward, the military’s adoption of a single interrogation
policy for all military zones that focuses more on rapport-based
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techniques (Field Manual 2-22.3) may reduce the difficulties for FBI
agents seeking to comply with the reporting requirement in the FBI’s May
2004 Detainee Policy. Nevertheless, military interrogators are still
permitted to use some techniques not available to FBI agents, and it is
therefore important for agents to receive training on military policies and
for the FBI to clarify what conduct should or should not be reported.

As a result, we recommend that the FBI consider supplementing
its May 2004 Detainee Policy or expanding its pre-deployment training to
clarify the circumstances under which FBI agents should report potential
mistreatment by other agencies’ interrogators. If the FBI requires its
employees to report any conduct beyond the interrogator’s authority,
then the FBI should provide guidance to its agents in military zones on
what interrogation techniques are permitted under military policy.
Training of FBI On-Scene Commanders regarding these military
techniques should be more detailed, so that they can answer FBI agent
inquiries in the military zones and prevent unnecessary conflicts or
reports. We believe the FBI should also give concrete meaning to any
terms that it uses to describe events that must be reported. For
example, if the FBI requires agents to report “abuse or mistreatment,” it
should define these terms and explain them with examples, either in the
Policy itself or in agent training.

C. OIG Assessment of FBI Headquarters and DOJ Handling
of Agents’ Reports Regarding Detainee Mistreatment

We found it difficult to assess the response of FBI Headquarters
and senior DOJ officials to reports from FBI agents about detainee
issues. The most significant events, relating to the interrogations of
Zubaydah and Al-Qahtani, took place in 2002 and the recollection of
many senior officials we interviewed regarding these events was vague.
Moreover, the Al-Qahtani and the Zubaydah disputes arose within a year
of the September 11 attacks, during a period when the FBI and DOJ
were scrambling to reorganize and expand their counterterrorism
activities.

Due in part to the vague recollections of senior FBI and DOJ
officials regarding the FBI-DOD disputes in 2002 and 2003, the paucity
of written communications on this issue produced to the OIG, and our
inability to interview former Attorney General Ashcroft, we were unable to
determine exactly what efforts were made at senior levels to address the
FBI’s concerns about detainee treatment issues. We did find that some
of these issues were the subject of inter-agency discussions, both in
meetings at GTMO and with the NSC. FBI and DOJ officials emphasized
in these discussions that the harsher DOD interrogation methods were -
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ineffective at obtaining intelligence, not that that they were illegal or
immoral.

We found that, ultimately, neither the FBI nor the DOJ had a
significant impact on the practices of the military with respect to the
detainees. The primary reason was that the FBI was not in charge of
detainees and generally did not have jurisdiction to police or evaluate
techniques used by military interrogators in the military zones.

In addition, the DOJ Office of Legal Counsel had opined that
several interrogation techniques sought to be used by the CIA were legal.
This information was known to sénior officials at the FBI and in the DOJ
Criminal Division. FBI and the DOJ officials therefore inferred that DOD
interrogation techniques, which were generally less severe than some of
those approved for the CIA, were also legal. FBI and DOJ officials were
also aware that Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld had approved the DOD
interrogation policies for GTMO. DOD policies for the other military
zones were similar to the GTMO policies and presumptively had similar
approval from senior officials.

Therefore, once the DOD officials with responsibility for detainee
matters rejected the FBI’'s arguments about the benefits of its rapport-
building interrogation techniques, the FBI did not press the issue. The
FBI knew that the DOD’s activities with respect to Al-Qahtani and the
CIA’s activities with respect to other high value detainees had been
approved at high levels.

Under these circumstances, neither the FBI nor the DOJ Criminal
Division was in a strong position to affect DOD interrogation policy, and
neither organization aggressively pressed the concerns about the legality
or propriety of DOD approaches through the inter-agency process.

In addition, the DOD rescinded approval for its most aggressive
techniques in January 2003 as a result of its own internal deliberations,
and, as mentioned previously, Al-Qahtani began cooperating fully in
April 2003. These developments reduced the frequency and severity of
the most aggressive techniques at GTMO, with the result that the issue
did not have particular urgency for the FBI or DOJ until April 2004 when
the Abu Ghraib abuses were disclosed to the public.

As discussed above, we also found that at one point before Al-

Qahtani began cooperating, officials in the FBI and DOJ prepared a
roposal 1o transfer AL-Oahian; N

h. A draft document regarding this proposal

recommended that Al-Qahtani be interrogated using the same sort of
methods used on Zubaydah j Some FBI officials were
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aware of the interrogation techniques that had been used on Zubaydah
, which were unquestionably outside of the scope of FBI
policy. Indeed, FBI concerns about the techniques used with Zubaydah
had already led to Director Mueller’s decision that the FBI would not
participate in joint interrogations in which such techniques would be
employed by another agency. However, the FBI and DOJ officials who
were involved in developing the proposal told the OIG that they were not
aware of the particular techniques in the
being recommended for Al-Qahtani. While we could not conclude that

these officials were aware of these techniques, we were troubled by the
fact that they would recommend H
for the purpose of interrogating him with different techniques than the
FBI or the DOD had used without knowing what the techniques were.
We also believe that the proposal to [N
- e interrogations was inconsistent with the
Director’s instructions regarding FBI involvement in non-FBI
interrogation techniques and with the statements made to us by many
FBI and DOJ officials who believed that rapport-based techniques were
more effective than the more aggressive interrogation techniques
employed by other agencies on certain detainees. The proposal stalled

because the DOD resisted it and Al-Qahtani began cooperating with
interrogators.

VI. Conclusion

The FBI deployed agents to military zones after the September 11
attacks in large part because of the FBI’s expertise in conducting
custodial interviews and in furtherance of its expanded counterterrorism
mission. The FBI has had a long history of success in custodial
interrogations using non-coercive rapport-based interview techniques
developed for the law enforcement context. However, some FBI agents
deployed to GTMO experienced a clash with the DOD, which used more
aggressive interrogation techniques. This clash placed some FBI agents
in difficult situations at GTMO and in the military zones, but apart from
raising concerns with their immediate supervisors or military officials,
the FBI had little leverage to change DOD policy.

We found that the vast majority of the FBI agents deployed in the
military zones dealt with these tensions by separating themselves from
interrogators using non-FBI techniques and by continuing to adhere to
FBI policies. In only a few instances did FBI agents use or participate in
interrogations using techniques that would not be permitted under FBI
policy in the United States. These few incidents were not nearly as
severe as the Abu Ghraib abuses.
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To its credit, the FBI decided in the summer of 2002 that it would
not participate in joint interrogations of detainees with other agencies in
which techniques not allowed by the FBI were used. However, the FBI
did not issue formal guidance about detainee treatment to its agents
until May 2004, shortly after the Abu Ghraib abuses became public. We
believe that the FBI should have recognized earlier the issues raised by
the FBI’s participating with the military in detainee interrogations in the
military zones and should have moved more quickly to provide clearer
guidance to its agents on these issues.

In sum, we believe that while the FBI could have provided clearer
guidance earlier, and while the FBI could have pressed harder for
resolution of concerns about detainee treatment by other agencies, the
FBI should be credited for its conduct and professionalism in detainee
interrogations in the military zones in Guantanamo Bay, Afghanistan,
and Iraq and in generally avoiding participation in detainee abuse.
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APPENDIX A: DOJ OIG QUESTIONNAIRE

PART I: BACKGROUND

A.

Personal Information

Please provide the following information:

© o N ok Wb

,_.
©

w

et
et

12.

First name

Middle initial

Last name

Entered on Duty Date (EOD)
Current Division/Field Office
Current job title

Direct dial office telephone number
FBI cell phone number

FBI pager number

Best contact number for you

Background of Specific Deployments or Assignments

At any time after September 11, 2001, did you serve as a member of the U.S.
Military, or as an employee or contractor of the FBI or any other government agency,
at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba; Iraq; Afghanistan; or in areas controlled by the U.S.
Military or a U.S. intelligence service in connection with the global war on terror?
O0Yes UNo

(If Yes) Enter the number of times you were deployed or assigned to each of the
following locations (Guantanamo Bay, Cuba; Iraq; Afghanistan; or in any areas
controlled by the U.S. Military or a U.S. intelligence service):

[] Gunantanamo Bay (Start and End Dates)

] Iraq (Start and End Dates)
(] Afghanistan (Start and End Dates)
(] Other (Start and End Dates)

12a. What was the general nature and purpose of your assignment and activities?

12b. Please provide the names of the specific camps, bases, or facilities where you
worked.

12c. Noté: If information about a specific camp, base, or facility is classified

above SECRET, please check here [], include in your answer that you have
"additional information classified above 'SECRET," and, if you know, identify
the classification level, ticket, compartment, program, or other designation
that applies to the information. Do not include the additional classified
information in your questionnaire responses. OIG personnel with the
necessary clearance will contact you to receive it.
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-

12d. Please identify, by name and position at the time, the FBI personnel to whom
you directly reported during your deployment or assignment.

12e. Did you jointly interview or interrogate any detainee with non-FBI
personnel? OYes ONo

(If Yes) With what kinds of non-FBI personnel did you work jointly?

U CITF

[J Other U.S. Military

0 U.S. intelligence agency

0 Foreign military or intelligence agency
[J Other

12f.  Did you jointly plan any detainee interview or interrogation strategy,
objectives, or tactics with non-FBI personnel? OYes ONo

(If Yes) With what kinds of non-FBI personnel did you work jointly?

Ll CITF

0 Other U.S. Military

0 U.S. intelligence agency

[J Foreign military or intelligence agency
Ll Other

12g. Were you ever otherwise involved in detainee interviews or interrogations
with non-FBI personnel? OYes UNo

PART II: TRAINING

A.

13.

Training Prior to Overseas Deployment or Assignment

Did you receive any training, instruction, or guidance specifically in preparation for
any of your overseas deployments or assignments?
OYes ONo 0Do Not Recall

(If Yes)

13a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance, and where did you
receive it?

13b. Describe the subject on which you received this training, instruction or
guidance.

13c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
OYes [(INo [JDo Not Recall



14.

15.

16.

17.

APPENDIX A: DOJ OIG QUESTIONNAIRE

In preparation for any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive
any training, instruction, or guidance concerning the standards of conduct
applicable to the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees by FBI
personnel? Yes [INo 0Do Not Recall

(If Yes)

14a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance, and where did you
receive it?

14b. Briefly describe the substance of the training, instruction, or guidance
provided to you.

14c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
OYes [ONo Do Not Recall

In preparation for any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive
any training, instruction, or guidance concerning the standards of conduct ’
applicable to the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees by non-FBI
personnel? OYes [JNo [JDo Not Recall

(If Yes)

15a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guldance and where did you
receive it?

15b. Briefly describe the substance of the training, instruction, or guidance
provided to you.

15¢c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
OYes [INo (0Do Not Recall

In preparation for any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive
any training, instruction, or guidance concerning what you were supposed to do if
you observed or heard about the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees
by FBI personnel, which you beheved to be inappropriate, unprofessional, coercive,
abusive, or unlawful?

OYes ONo UDo Not Recall

(If Yes) )

16a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance, and where did you
receive it?

16b. Briefly describe the substance of the tralnlng, instruction, or guidance
provided to you.

16c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance prov1ded in writing?
OYes ONo 0Do Not Recall

In preparation for any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive
any training, instruction, or guidance concerning what you were supposed to do if
you observed or heard about the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees
by non-FBI personnel, which you believed to be inappropriate, unprofessional,
coercive, abusive, or unlawful?

[Yes [INo 0Do Not Recall

(If Yes)

17a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance, and where did you
receive it?

17b.  Briefly describe the substance of the training, instruction, or guidance
provided to you.

17c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
OYes [ONo 0Do Not Recall
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18.

19.

20.

21.

APPENDIX A: DOJ OIG QUESTIONNAIRE

Training During Overseas Deployments or Assignments

During any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive any
training, instruction, or guidance concerning the standards of conduct applicable to
the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees by FBI personnel? Yes [ONo
Do Not Recall

(If Yes)

18a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance?

18b. Briefly describe the substance of the training, instruction, or guidance
provided to you.

18c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
OYes (INo ODo Not Recall

During any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive any
training, instruction, or guidance concerning the standards of conduct applicable to
the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees by non-FBI personnel? [IYes
ONo Do Not Recall

(If Yes)

19a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance?

19b. Briefly describe the substance of the training, instruction, or guidance
provided to you. _

19¢c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
NYes [0No Do Not Recall

During any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive any
training, instruction, or guidance concerning what you were supposed to do if you
observed or heard about the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees by
FBI personnel, which you believed to be inappropriate, unprofessional, coercive,
abusive, or unlawful? O0Yes (ONo ODo Not Recall

(If Yes)

20a. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance?

20b. Briefly describe the substance of the training, instruction, or guidance
provided to you.

20c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
OYes ONo 0Do Not Recall

-During any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you receive any

training, instruction, or guidance concerning what you were supposed to do if you
observed or heard about the treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees by
non-FBI personnel, which you believed to be inappropriate, unprofessional,
coercive, abusive, or unlawful? Yes[] No (1Do Not Recall

(If Yes)

21la. Who provided this training, instruction, or guidance?

21b. Briefly describe the substance of the training, instruction, or guidance
provided to you.

21c. Was any of the training, instruction, or guidance provided in writing?
OYes ONo ODo Not Recall
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C. Adequacy of Training

22. - Inyour opinion, did you receive adequate training, instruction, or guidance relating
to standards of conduct by FBI and non-FBI personnel relating to treatment,
interview, or interrogation of detainees prior to your deployment or assignment?
OYes ONo

e (If No) Please describe the ways in which you believe the training, instruction or
guidance was inadequate:

23. In your opinion, did you receive adequate training, instruction, or guidance relating
to standards of conduct by FBI and non-FBI personnel relating to treatment,
interview, or interrogation of detainees during your deployment or assignment?
OYes [ONo

e (If No) Please describe the ways in which you believe the training, instruction or
guidance was inadequate:

24. In your opinion, did you receive adequate training, instruction, or guidance
concerning what you were supposed to do if you observed or heard about the
treatment, interview, or interrogation of detainees, by FBI or non-FBI personnel,
that you believed was inappropriate, unprofessional, coercive, abusive, or unlawful?
OYes ONo

e (If No) Please describe the ways in which you believe the training, instruction or
guidance was inadequate:

25. (Optional) In what ways can the FBI improve training on this subject for future
deployments or assignments?

D. Comments

26. Please provide any additional information concerning training for overseas
deployments or assignments of FBI personnel you believe is relevant.

PART III: YOUR KNOWLEDGE OF CERTAIN INTERVIEW OR
INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES AND OTHER TYPES OF
DETAINEE TREATMENT

Introduction to Part III: In this section, we are seeking information regarding a wide
range of interview or interrogation techniques and other types of detainee treatment alleged
to have occurred. You should not assume, just because we are asking about a particular
technique or practice, that we have concluded that it in fact occurred. We recognize that
some of these techniques or practices may at times be necessary for safety and security in a
detention setting. In addition, we recognize that some of these techniques or practices may
have been authorized for use by military or other government personnel.
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With respect to each identified technique, practice, or type of conduct described below, we
are seeking information about its occurrence during or in connection with the interview
or interrogation of a detainee, or during the detention of a detainee beyond what is
needed for safety and security. In that context, we will ask you to tell us whether one or
more of the following statements are true:

N =

ook w

I personally observed this conduct. _

I observed detainee(s) in a condition that led me to believe that this conduct had
occurred.

Detainee(s) told me that this conduct had occurred.

Others who observed this conduct described it to me.

I have relevant information classified above "SECRET".

I never observed this conduct nor heard about it from someone who did.

The following are entries for questions 27-63 (Check all that apply):

o P

Moo 0

I personally observed this conduct.

I observed detainee(s) in a condition that led me to believe that this conduct
had occurred.

Detainee(s) told me that this conduct had occurred.
Others who observed this conduct described it to me.

I have relevant information classified above "SECRET".

o e e R o B

I never observed this conduct nor heard about it from someone who did.

If any of the above ‘a’ through ‘e’ are checked for questions 27-63, the following questions

appear:

g.

h.

Please provide the approximate time frame during which this conduct
occurred. From To ODo Not Recall

The detainee(s) treated in this way were located at the time in:
1 [0 Guantanamo

2 [ Iraq

3 [ Afghanistan

4 [ Other Location

5 [ Do Not Recall

Please identify the detainee(s) by name and number:

Please identify the person(s) who treated the detainee(s) in this manner,
including their name(s) and government agency(ies):

Please identify any other FBI personnel or non-FBI personnel who observed
detainee(s) treated in this manner, including their name(s) and agency(ies):

This conduct occurred in connection with:
1 [J one detainee

2 [ several detainees (2-4)

3 [0 Many detainees (more than 4)

4 [J Do Not Recall

(Optional) Please describe the relevant circumstances in more detail:
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27.
28.
29.

30.
31.

32.
33.
34.

35.
36.
37.

38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.

44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.

50.
51.
52.
53.
S54.
55.
56.
57.

58.
59.

60.
61.

62.
63.
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Depriving a detainee of food or water

Depriving a detainee of clothing

Depriving a detainee of sleep, or interrupting sleep by frequent cell relocations or
other methods

Beating a detainee

Using water to prevent breathing by a detainee or to create the sensation of
drowning

Using hands, rope, or anything else to choke or strangle a detainee

Threatening other action to cause physical pain, injury, disfigurement, or death
Other treatment or action causing significant physical pain or injury, or causing
disfigurement or death

Placing a detainee on a hot surface or burning a detainee

Using shackles or other restraints in a prolonged manner

Requiring a detainee to maintain, or restraining a detainee in, a stressful or painful
position

Forcing a detainee to perform demanding physical exercise

Using electrical shock on a detainee

Threatening to use electrical shock on a detainee

Intentionally delaying or denying detainee medical care

Hooding or blindfolding a detainee other than during transportation’

Subjecting a detainee to extremely cold or hot room temperatures for extended
periods -

Subjecting a detainee to loud music

Subjecting a detainee to bright flashing lights or darkness

Isolating a detainee for an extended period

Using duct tape to restrain, gag, or punish a detainee

Using rapid response teams and/or forced cell extractions

Using a military working dog on or near a detainee other than durmg detainee
transportation.

Threatening to use military working dogs on or near a detainee

Using spiders, scorpions, snakes, or other animals on or near a detainee
Threatening to use spiders, scorpions, snakes, or other animals on a detainee
Disrespectful statements, handling, or actions involving the Koran

Shaving a detainee's facial or other hair to embarrass or humiliate a detainee
Placing a woman's clothing on a detainee

Touching a detainee or acting toward a detainee in a sexual manner

Holding detainee(s) who were not officially acknowledged or registered as such by
the agency detaining the person.

Sending a detainee to another country for more aggressive interrogation
Threatening to send a detainee to another country for detention or more aggressive
interrogation

Threatening to take action against a detainee's family

Other treatment or action causing severe emotional or psychological trauma to a
detainee

Other religious or sexual harassment or humiliation of a detainee

Other treatment of a detainee that in your opinion was unprofessional, unduly
harsh or aggressive, coercive, abusive, or unlawful



APPENDIX A: DOJ OIG QUESTIONNAIRE

PART IV: YOUR KNOWLEDGE OF OTHER MATTERS

64.

65.

66.

Did you observe any impersonation of FBI personnel by anyone during an interview
or interrogation of a detainee? UYes UNo

Did any detainee or other person tell you that he or she had witnessed the
impersonation of FBI personnel in connection with a detainee interview or
interrogation? UYes ONo

Are you aware of any "sham" or "staged" detainee interviews or interrogations
conducted for Members of the U.S. Congress or their staff?
OYes [ONo

For 64 through 66 (If Yes):

67.

a. Please provide the approximate time frame during which this conduct
occurred. From to UDo Not Recall
b. The detainee(s) treated in this way were located at the time in:

1 U Guantanamo
2 [ Iraq

3 U Afghanistan

4 [] Other Location
5 [ Do Not Recall

c. Please identify the detainee(s) by name and number to the best of your
recollection:
d. Please identify the person(s) who treated the detainee(s) in this manner,

including, if you recall, their name(s) and government agency(ies):

e. The names of any other FBI personnel, and the names and government
agency of non-FBI personnel, whom I believe saw the detainee(s) treated in
this manner are:

f. This conduct occurred in connection with:
1 [J One detainee
2 [] Several detainees (2-4)
3 [J Many detainees (more than 4)
4 [J Do Not Recall

g. (Optional) Please describe the relevant circumstances in more detail:
To your knowledge, did any military or intelligence personnel ever deny or delay FBI

access to a detainee the FBI wanted to question because the detainee had sustained
injuries after he was captured? OYes ONo

67a  (If Yes) Describe the nature, time, place and other relevant circumstances,
and identify the persons involved:



APPENDIX A: DOJ OIG QUESTIONNAIRE

PART V: ACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO AND REPORTING OF

68.

69.

CERTAIN INTERVIEW OR INTERROGATION
TECHNIQUES, AND OTHER TYPES OF DETAINEE
TREATMENT

Did you ever end your participation in or observation of a detainee interview or
interrogation because of the interview or interrogation methods being used?
OYes (No

Were you ever told that another FBI employee ended his or her participation in
or observation of, a detainee interview or interrogation because of the interview
or interrogation methods being used? OYes [ONo

For Questions 68 and 69:

70.

71.

s (If Yes) Briefly describe the interview or interrogation methods being used,
and when and where this occurred, including the names of FBI and/or non-
FBI personnel involved. Date, Place, Names, FBI or Non-FBI Person

During any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you report any
concerns regarding any detainee interview or interrogation practices, or other
types of detainee treatment, to an FBI supervisor? [Yes [UNo

During any of your overseas deployments or assignments, did you report any
concerns regarding any detainee interview or interrogation practices or other
types of detainee treatment you observed or heard about, to a non-FBI
supervisor or other non-FBI personnel? OYes [INo

For 70 and 71 (If Yes):

72.

a. When and to whom did you make this report? Name and Date

b. Did the report relate to conduct by FBI or non-FBI personnel?
1 JFBI Personnel
2 [UNon-FBI Personnel

o Identify the agency with which the non-FBI personnel were
affiliated. Name

c. Was this report in writing? UYes [JNo

d. To your knowledge, was any action taken in response to your report?
0OYes [No (JDo Not Know

e (If Yes) Describe the action taken in response to your report?

Have you ever been ordered or directed not to report, or discouraged in any way
from reporting, observations or allegations related to detainee treatment or
interview or interrogation actions or practices? (JYes ONo
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73.

74.

APPENDIX A: DOJ OIG QUESTIONNAIRE

Have you experienced any actual or threatened retaliation for reporting
observations or allegations of detainee treatment or interview or interrogation
actions or practices? 0OYes ONo

(Optional) Please provide any additional comments regarding the reporting of
concerns related to interview or interrogation techniques, detention practices, or
other detainee treatment.

PART VI: DEBRIEFINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

75.

76.

Were you debriefed, other than the standard debrief in FD-772, concerning your
overseas assignment(s) or deployment(s) after you completed the deployment(s)
or assignment(s)? [Yes ONo

(If Yes)

75a. Who debriefed you?

75b. When and where did the debriefing(s) occur? Date and Place

75c. Were you asked about detainee detention or interview or interrogation
practices during the debriefing(s)? OYes ONo

75d. What other subjects were covered during your debriefing(s)?

75e. Was any document prepared to memorialize the debriefing?
OYes [INo ODo Not Know :

Additional Comments and Recommendations:
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DEPARTMENT OF DE
CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION TASKEORCE
6050 67 STREET
FORT BELVOER, VIRGIRIA 13080

Pt

CITF-CDR 2 Octobser 2008
MEMORANDILIM FOR ALL PERSONNIEL ASSIGNED TO THE DOD CRIMINAL
INVESTISATION TASK FURGE

oty Prooadires s Ciddanoafg)

a. (U) Presidentisl Orasr Concerrilng Détanton, Troatmanit and Tril of Cerfaln
Non-Chizens i the War Against Terrorien, 13/ Nov 01, ,
b. SECUEF Mamo, 16 Apt 03, Shuntér-Reslsianos Technigues in the Waron

2. &N The purpose of tis memozandum i3t reitarata.my previdliy-guitenas o
Criminal irvestigation Tedk Foios (CITF) gefonne), related 1o tha-corduct of
tamagations of detalees ur parsons undar custody. For the purposeiof {his
mama?nﬁum all roferancas o datainsss vill.also apply i persons uiler custady.
o A
3. (SPNF) The Presidenti onder ol 18 Nev 1 seis-forll cenain policy guidstines
regiirding £ utriant of patsans detained by DoDwhg.are subject to-he prder,
Specttically, the arder efutes that detainsas wiil T freated humansty, without any
adverse disénction based o 186, oor, taligion, gendar, birth, wealth.or similar
aritaria. The general guidelings provided ars cansistant with.the criminal Hvestigators
objectives:in-alicitiag information from the detained parsens dudng interrogation and the
Sewslny ol Dofonas Quidanes, dbtod 18 Aprit 2003, concarming ConpsatarRasistancy
Techniguea in the War on Tespdsm (S) -

4, (ﬁgﬂ trtarvogation:
Otainoes Wil be treated humanaly. Physical torture, corporal

‘_tu

8, (3% :
punichment and frdntal torttre are riot acceptable Interrogatian tactics and are noft
afiowed undér any circursstancas, Basie human needs, such as food and water, will
ot be witlihald a8 & masns ke vhisin information. CITFwill hot arbitcarily s the
duration of the intasrogation as a matter of policy. The Interrogator may-discontinue
mntarogstion when he deems that cantinued effarts would he upiprogutive,

C-1
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CITE-CDR (!
Subject: Interogation Procedures Guidance (87

h. () OITF pamsonnel will not participate in any inferrogation that vislates this
poliy. Whan CITF persannel are canducting & joint inferrogation with another WS,
gaveriment arganization, end & wembar of thaf ofher organization employs tactios that
. ars, br appear to the irvestigator to be, inhomane ar cruel and unususl, the CITF
parsonned will immadiately disangage from tha interrogation, report tha incident to their
CITF chaln of command, and docarent the Incident in & memarandum for racerd t the
CITF Resident Agent in Charge{ RAC), who will thes forward & memarandurmfor récord
to tha CITF Deputy Speclal Agant in Charge (OSAC)

{ [ } ‘ [
¢ (BAIF) The use of isalation fasiitas Wil not be employed s an intarmgation
tecsc: howevar, on & case-byscese basis it can be uised as an incantive. The use of
isolation as an inceniive must be approved by the DSAC, gad will oy be used'with the
consent of the detaliee.

{1
4. (STSE) The use of decaplion orruse may be empleyed as.an imerrogation
taclic. Examples of deception tactics includs but are not imited to the uca of false
inteiigencs, false infarrmeivs atlibuted to other detsiness, falet Idéndification of
physical o forensic evidence and false representations.as ta the entity of the
imterrogater, The interrogatarmay not amploy & deception or rUSe.in any Manner fhat
would coretitute nhumane freatrant of the detaines. ‘

e B A%mzmganmawmbe ﬁgcuﬁtesﬁadmra‘ GITF Form 40 that will Include
the 1SN of the defeinee, tims and dita of the interrogatian, duration of the interrogation

and aither the identifies ororganizations of all persons pressnt for the interrogation, Al

CITF persoanel participating in the intarrogation must be cocy menled wpniupiately in
the case flle, alther in the invastigalive notes oron the Form 40,

£ (L1 Photographs and or video recordingd of intrrogations are nt réquired s6e
mattar of polioy; howaver, thoy may be gencrated at the disoretion of the-agam
conduciing She-intarview with the concurrance of the RAC: CITF personnel rmay
consider videotaping tha final intervisw with dolaineas who ara fo be 4
relensaditransiarad and wili strongly consider vidaotaping a final intervise ofany
detaines wha is being ansfarred who has possible value as a withass, Txceptions o
this policy must be approved by CITF-HQ at the Commander (COR) or Deputy
Comnandar {DCO) level. The DEG is alac the Senicr Agant in.Charge {8AC).
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Uacessd

CUIF-LDR : ‘
Subjact: Irtarrogation Procedures Guidanos

5. Q1) CHF agents will not pedicipate in tha usa af any rmon-aw enforcamant (LE)
intarrogation techniquas for which thay ars nat trgined, of any technigques thay fool ara
questionable, as defined by law, regulation, and as riterpretad by the COR:and SAC.
All CITF agems have the authority to withdeaw fomt any envirdnmant or action that they
believe la inapproprisia. GTTF agents must report anyruch action to-thelr RAC
immediataly, and the RAC will provide 2 MFR an the fcident to the DSAD:

8. (U} CITF agants will not absenvs intarviews by othar agencles where i Is lmown
thet nan-LE techniquas witl be used. Ordy the CiTE GDR or DO muy grant exceplions:

1o this policy.

7. ) CITF agents or analysts will requestand obfsin iranscripts, reports, and after:
aens of any and il intervigws conducted by oflior ogonclesiand entiliss to
A ; sefarcament value of the informetion and the effectiveness of the
interrogation strateyies employed, Al interrogations of detainses will be documerited &
the CiTF case fle. ,

8. (U} The-CITF-G RAC, Oparations Officer, or OITF-G Lagal Advisorwilh coordinals
with Joint Task Fores (JTF TGTMO end wil copresent CITF i all discussions of
itemogatin rategiss and appivachss. CITF-G will notify CITF=HQ of lssues raised
during these discussions that ave' he. potantial o impact the-GITF mission, (fthe
CITF-G represaniative disagrees with an-approach being considerad by theJTF, the
GITE-G representativs should Inform the JTF of the.objection Ina professional mantet
and esnfinus participating i the discussion. The abligation of the GITP&
reprasantative st any discussion/meeting 15 two-fold; to raise a professional objecton es
tigoessary, and o reportthe issuato the CORor DGWSAG‘fthmughﬁ}ea%c. '

9. (U Inlragand Afghanisten, simfiaty, the RAC, Dperations Dfficsr, orLegal
Advistr wit represent CITF In disqussions with cthver organizetions’ represaniatives
relatad 1o inferrogation stratagies ard approaches. The discussions and reporiing
requiratnants will follow the same parameters.outlined above,
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CITRCDR
Subject: Interrogafion Proceduras @mdanoe

{J) The PO for this memorandum is LT Pater C. Zolper, Chist Le@l Advisor,
gmg; 805-2680.
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COL; MP
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